
Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 1 
 

 

MINUTES    

FORSYTH CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

JUNE 16, 2015 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, INVOCATION 

Mayor Howard called the meeting to order at 6:00PM and led the pledge of allegiance.   

Mr. Stroud gave the invocation.   

ROLL CALL 

Present for the meeting were Mayor Howard, Councilmembers Mike Dodd, Julius Stroud, 

Greg Goolsby, Jimmy Jones, Eric Wilson, and Melvin Lawrence.  Also present were City Attorney, 

Bobby Melton; and City Manager, Janice Hall.   

COUNCIL ACTION ITEMS 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Mr. Stroud offered a motion to approve the minutes from the June 2nd, 2015 Council 

meetings.  Seconded by Mr. Lawrence; the motion carried the motion carried unanimously (voting 

in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Wilson, Jones and Lawrence).  

PETE DEGNAN – MEAG – CONSOLIDATION REVIEW AS IT RELATES TO 

AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE CITY AND MEAG 

 Pete Degnan, General Council from MEAG Power came before the Council and stated that 

he had come before the Council six (6) weeks ago and reviewed the issue of consolidation and the 

impact that it may or may not have on MEAG Power and our outstanding bond indebtedness.  Mr. 

Degnan stated that MEAG Power understands the decision of consolidation is purely a decision to 

be made by Tax Payers and Officials of the City and County and MEAG has no intent to influence 

that decision in any way.  Mr. Degnan stated that if the City decides to move forward with 

consolidation it is because the City thinks it is in their best interest and therefore in MEAGs best 

interest.  Mr. Degnan stated that he hoped he could remove any confusion that he may have caused 

in his comments six (6) weeks ago.  Mr. Degnan stated that the only purpose in him being here is to 

try and explain that if they city were to move forward with consolidation that there are some 

important legal issues that need to be addressed, and that the reason for that is that no MEAG City 

has of yet done a consolidation and the City that does it first is where the legal issues have to be 

resolved and once they are resolved every other city would benefit from that.  Mr. Degnan stated 

that the real crux of the issues is that on the bonds that MEAG has issued to fund our ownership in 

the nuclear plants, coal plants and gas plants in Georgia, the basic collateral we give bond holders 

are the revenues under the power sales contracts that MEAG has with the 49 MEAG cities, and 

MEAG has 7 power sales contracts with the City of Forsyth; and under those contracts Forsyth is 



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 2 
 

 

obligated to pay your share of the costs; and that is what MEAG pledges to the bond holders.  Mr. 

Degnan stated that what the bond holders require is a contract with MEAG that says that they will 

not do anything in any way that impairs the strength or the enforceability of those power sales 

contracts, because that is all the bond holders have.  Mr. Degnan stated that if Forsyth consolidates 

and the City of Forsyth no longer exists and you have a new public entity that replaces the City, 

presumably that new entity would except the responsibility under those contracts, but the bond 

holders are going to want assurances that they have the same right and ability to enforce those 

contracts against the new entity as the Courts have already held against the City and all other 

MEAG Cities.  So that issue has to be resolved and it should be resolved, and it should be resolved 

by the Georgia Courts.  Mr. Degnan stated that if the City moves forward with consolidation, 

MEAG would work with the City and come up with the most efficient plan to get the issues 

resolved in the Georgia Courts.  Mr. Jones stated that he didn’t want to simply this, but there are 

other contracts that both the County and City would be obligated to in the event of a merger, no 

different than the City of Macon and Bibb County went through; and at the end of the day we 

would still be obligated to, and that all you would need to do is have an opinion from the Supreme 

Court from the State of Georgia that states that nothing changes. Mr. Degnan stated that was 

exactly right.  Mr. Jones stated that he was glad Mr. Degnan was here tonight to review and clarify 

this. Mr. Degnan stated that if consolidation is good for the City its good for MEAG.  Mayor 

Howard stated that at this particular time we don’t actually foresee doing any type of consolidation, 

and thanked Mr. Degnan for coming back for this review. 

PUBLIC HARING – APPLICATION FOR BEER/WINE/LIQUOR PACKAGE LICENSE 

FOR 119 NORTH LEE STREET – APPLICANT PINTUKAUMAR PATEL 

Mr. Bobby Melton reviewed the beer/wine/liquor package license received for Pintukumar 

Patel.  Mr. Melton stated that this was a change of ownership for the business for 119 North Lee 

Street, which requires a new application and a new license for the package sale of beer/wine/liquor.  

Mr. Melton stated that the application has been published in the Monroe County Reporter, in the 

issues of May 27th, June 3rd, and June 10th and is before Council tonight to here from Mr. Patel and 

any comments from the public.  Mrs. Hall stated that Mr. Melton had a list of questions that dealt 

with his address and Mr. Patel was going to get his licensed changed.  Mrs. Hall asked Mr. Patel if 

he was able to get his license changed.  Mr. Patel stated that he had not yet got it done, but it would 

be done.  Mrs. Hall stated that the bond company had printed the incorrect address on the bond and 

that they have corrected the bond and sent in the correct amount of bond.  Mr. Melton stated that 

there was a certification that this was not close to any school received by Steve Coleman.  Mr. 

Lawrence asked if this was the store that was located beside the railroad track, and Mr. Patel stated 

that it is.  Mr. Melton stated that a condition of the sell is that a license be obtained by Mr. Patel.  



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 3 
 

 

Mayor Howard opened the floor for public hearing for comments for or against the approval of the 

beer/wine/liquor package license for applicant Pintukaumar Patel – 119 North Lee Street.  Hearing 

no comments, Mayor Howard closed the floor for the public hearing.  Mr. Wilson offered a motion 

to approve the application for beer/wine/liquor package license for 119 North Lee Street, applicant 

Mr. Patel.  Seconded by Mr. Jones, the Mayor asked for any discussion.  Mr. Goolsby asked about 

the storage building and asked if Mr. Patel had any plans to do anything to that outside facade of 

that storage.  Mr. Patel stated that nothing has been planned for the first 12 months other than 

interior renovations.  Mr. Patel stated they would like to do something with the sign on top of the 

building; but does have plans for the future to address the outside of the building.  Hearing no 

further discussion, the motion carried unanimously (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, 

Goolsby, Wilson, Jones and Lawrence).  

PUBLIC HEARING – VARIANCE APPLICATION FOR A 4-STORY BUILDING, ONE 

LESS PARKING SPACE, AND HEIGHT VARIANCE TO ALLOW FOR A PARAPET OF 

72 FEET IN HEIGHT AND OTHER PORTIONS OF THE BUILDING AT NO GREATER 

HEIGHT THT 53 FEET AT THE INTERSECTION OF NORTH LEE STREET AND 

RUSSELL PARKWAY – APPLICANT FARID KAPADIA 

 Mr. Bobby Melton stated that the variance had been advertised in the Monroe County 

Reporter, in the issues of May 27th, June 3rd, and June 10th and is before Council tonight for the 

Public Hearing.  Ms. Thombley came before council and stated that in May of this year we received 

an application from Forsyth Hospitality to build a LaQuinta Inn on Russell Parkway, just above the 

Days Inn.  Ms. Thombley stated the application for variance was for four (4) stories, height for the 

tower of 72’ and 1 less parking space.  Brian Simpson with Carter and Sloope stated that they were 

asking for 3 variances; 4 stores instead of 3, height of tower at 72’ and 77 parking spaces instead of 

78.  Mayor Howard opened the floor for public hearing for comments or issues in references to the 

variances.  Mr. Green came forward and stated that he did see the need for the business.  Hearing 

no further comments, Mayor Howard closed the floor for the public hearing.  Mr. Jones offered a 

motion to approve the variances as they were presented.  Seconded by Mr. Wilson; the motion 

carried the motion carried unanimously (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, 

Wilson, Jones and Lawrence). 

PUBLIC HEARING – VARIANCE APPLICATION FOR AN AUTO SERVICE WITHOUT 

SALES AT 173 MLK JR DRIVE – APPLICANT NATHANIEL FREEMAN 

 Mr. Bobby Melton stated that the variance had been advertised in the Monroe County 

Reporter, in the issues of May 27th, June 3rd, and June 10th and is before Council tonight for the 

Public Hearing for 173 MLK JR Drive.  Ms. Thombley came before Council and stated that this 

variance for an Auto Service without sales in a Neighborhood Shopping District.  Ms. Thombley 



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 4 
 

 

stated that Mr. Freeman previously had a business at that location for auto service, he closed the 

business and lost the variance for that property.  Ms. Thombley stated that Mr. Freeman is leasing 

the property to a couple that will open a business for an auto service without sales.  Mayor Howard 

asked Mr. Freeman if there was anything he would like to speak on at this time he could do so.  Mr. 

Freeman stated that the new business owners are cleaning up the property and have done a good 

job.  Mayor Howard opened the floor for public hearing for comments or issues in references to the 

variances.   Mr. Green stated that he thinks the variance should be approved, because we need the 

business in the community.  Mr. Melton stated that the Planning & Zoning Board did recommend 

approval with a 60 day period to clean up the property.  Mr. Freeman stated that since that time they 

have done a good job cleaning up and getting rid of cars as they can.  Mr. Goolsby asked Mr. 

Freeman if there was anything we needed to do to protect him moving forward as the property 

owner.  Mr. Freeman stated that he was working closing with the new business owners.  Mr. Wilson 

offered a motion to approve to variance.  Seconded by Mr. Lawrence.  Mr. Stroud asked what we 

needed to do about rezoning the property.  Mrs. Hall stated that we needed to look at changing the  

zoning from the hospital to Union Hill Drive because there are several businesses in that area that 

are zoned as Neighborhood Shopping and require a variance for each new business.  Mr. Green had 

to get variances for all the business that he opened on his property on MLK.  Mrs. Hall stated that 

these other properties along MLK should be zoned something other than Neighborhood Shopping; 

it will require permission to move forward without charge to the property owners.  The motion 

carried unanimously, (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and 

Lawrence).  

APPROVAL OF AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE CONVENTION & 

VISITORS BUREAU (CVB) FOR HOTEL TAX 

Mr. Melton stated that the CVB is now operational and they had they organizational 

meeting on June 8th, and elected officers, approved the bylaws, and approved the agreement with 

the City of Forsyth for disbursement of a portion of the Hotel/Motel Tax.  Mr. Melton stated that it 

provides for 40% of the Hotel/Motel Tax to go to the Convention & Visitors Bureau and the 

remainder of the Hotel/Motel tax will remain with the city.  Mr. Melton stated that the agreement is 

essentially the same agreement that the City had for years with the Chamber for the Hotel/Motel 

Tax disbursements.  Mr. Jones asked if there was a difference in the agreement besides the name 

change language.  Mr. Melton stated that this agreement provides for campgrounds to be included, 

because campgrounds are now a part of the Collection Ordinance of the City Hotel/Motel tax.  Mr. 

Melton stated that the agreement is for the period ending December 31, 2015 and then it can be 

renewed after that date, and it also includes the criteria that the CVB should use for disbursing the 

money, which is what Georgia Law Statute says.  Mr. Dodd stated in Section 8 and 9 that a detailed 



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 5 
 

 

budget should be presented to the City for approval, showing revenue and line item expenditures 

and quarterly financial statements and a balance sheet reflecting incoming expenditures of the funds 

covered by this agreement.  Mr. Dodd asked if this was an annual reconciliation that he would like 

to have an annual summation.  Mrs. Hall stated that the CVB would provide quarterly reports 

showing revenues and expenses and that before the end of the year they will provide a budget for 

the upcoming year.  Mrs. Hall stated that 100% of the Hotel/Motel Tax money that we have 

received since January 1st through today, is in a separate bank account and has not been spent in 

anyway.  Mrs. Hall stated that even the unrestricted 60% that we could spend, we have not spent 

because we did not have that agreement.  Mrs. Hall stated that once the Council approves the 

agreement then we will transfer 40% of those funds over to the CVB for them to begin using.  Mrs. 

Hall stated that as of last week 100% of the Hotel tax money received is $116,576.92, and this is 

January through April, if we continue on that average we would collect $349,730.00; 40% of the 

current amount in the bank is $46,630, so that is what the CVB would have as of to date to start 

working.  Mr. Goolsby offered a motion to approve the agreement between the City and the CVB.  

Seconded by Mr. Jones, the motion carried unanimously, (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, 

Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and Lawrence).   

APPOINT ELECTION SUPERINTENDENT 

Mrs. Hall stated that normally the Council would appoint the Election Superintendent in 

January of each year at the organizational meeting, this year we did not have anyone in January that 

we could appoint, because Karen Pittman who was previously the Election Superintendent, was the 

Probate Judge, and she is no longer the Probate Judge.  Mrs. Hall stated that Donna Robbins is the 

new Probate Judge and that she had a meeting with Donna Robbins, Anita Cauthen and the 

Registrar’s Office.  Mrs. Hall stated that Donna Robbins is willing to serve as the Election 

Superintendent this year and we are waiting on the County to submit an agreement between the 

City and County for Election Superintendent Services.  Mrs. Hall stated that we need to get an 

Election Superintendent in place so that they can start working on the changes with the election.  

Mr. Stroud offered a motion to approve Donna Robbins as the Election Superintendent.  Seconded 

by Mr. Lawrence.  Mr. Jones asked if the agreement will be the same as the previous agreement.  

Mrs. Hall stated that she will bring the agreement back to Council for approval, this is just to 

appoint Mrs. Robbins so that she can start working and Mrs. Cauthen is fairly sure she will have the 

agreement back from the Attorneys so that she can take it to the first meeting in July for the County 

Commissioners and then any changes they make and the Council will be able to approve it the 

second meeting in July, because qualifying is the end of August.  The motion carried unanimously, 

(voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and Lawrence).   



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 6 
 

 

APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION REGARDING ORDINANCE REFERENCE TO CITY 

ADMINISTRATOR 

Mrs. Hall stated that at the work session we are going to look at the Administrative 

Ordinance and once we get the changes to the Administrative Ordinance, she is working with the 

Regional Commission to make changes to all the remaining Ordinances and that is going to be a 

lengthy process.  Mrs. Hall stated that there are several places within all the Ordinances, the City 

Policies, the Departmental Policies where there are references to the City Administrator and this 

Resolution states that if there are any references to the City Administrator that is will fall to the City 

Manager.   Mr. Goolsby offered a motion to approve the Resolution.  Seconded by Mr. Jones, the 

motion carried unanimously, (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson 

and Lawrence).   

APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE INVOICE 

 Mrs. Hall reviewed invoice totals for each department for a total of $164,753.39 for 

general payables, $630.39 for Seized and $14,322.36 for SPLOST/GRANT payables; for a grand 

total of $179,706.14.  Mr. Dodd offered a motion to approve the invoices.  Seconded by Mr. Jones, 

the motion carried unanimously (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Wilson, 

Jones and Lawrence).   

Mrs. Hall stated that there was 1 requisition greater than $5000 that needs to be approved.  

Mrs. Hall stated that there was a power failure at the Northeast Waste Water Treatment Plant and 

we need to replace the main circuit breakers for the blowers and the cost for this $5760, and 

requested approval of the requisition so that we can place that order.  Mr. Dodd offered a motion to 

approve the requisition.  Seconded by Mr. Lawrence, the motion carried unanimously, (voting in 

the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and Lawrence). 

ADDITIONAL COUNCIL ITEMS: 

ADDITIONAL COUNCIL BUSINESS 

- Mayor Howard stated that he wanted to introduce a young man to everyone that is here 

with us tonight, Mr. John Claude Walton.  Mr. Walton wants to put together an event a 

Kynette Park this summer.  Mayor Howard asked Mr. Walton to come before the 

Council, not that anything needs to be approved tonight, but he would like for Mr. 

Walton to explain what all he is planning.  Mayor Howard stated that he was very 

proud of him and he is an aspiring film writer and has put together his first movie that 

was filmed here in Forsyth without any disturbance of any kind.  Mr. Walton came 

before Council and thank the Council for hearing him out.  Mr. Walton stated that he 

wanted to have an event that would bring everyone in Forsyth together.  Mr. Walton 

stated that he would like to have police officers come and make sure that everything 



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 7 
 

 

stays calm; he doesn’t anticipate any problems, but it would just show support.  Mr. 

Walton stated that the event would be free to everyone.  Mr. Walton stated that he 

planned to have it on Saturday, August 8th.  Mr. Walton stated that he would like any 

help he could get, to be able to keep the event free for everyone.  Mayor Howard stated 

that he would need to get with Lorraine Khoury, and that she would be able to help 

him.  Mr. Jones stated that he would need to reserve the park for the event and that he 

wanted to applaud him for what he is doing and if there is anything that he needed from 

the City that we can provide, we will be glad to do that.  Mr. Jones stated that as far as 

traffic control, Mrs. Hall would be able to coordinate that and for the stage he can get 

with the Lorraine.  Mrs. Hall stated that it would not cost anything, unless he wants the 

building.  Mr. Walton stated that he didn’t really need it, but if they suggested he do it 

he would.  Mrs. Hall asked if he could come by tomorrow and meet with her and make 

sure that there is nothing going on at the park on the date he needs.  Mr. Walton stated 

he wanted to thank the Council for letting him come and speak.  Mr. Walton stated that 

he planned on doing a lot more for the community. 

- Mr. Stroud asked for a status on the pole on 5 Fern Drive.  Mrs. Hall stated that Johnny 

Hodges went out the next day and that the cable company has moved their lines off the 

pole and that AT&T was supposed to be out there last week to move theirs.  Mrs. Hall 

stated that there are several poles around town, and Mr. Hodges has put a list together 

for the cable company and then sent it to AT&T to take care of the poles. 

- Mr. Goolsby stated that he thought the Grapple truck was running on Friday, and that 

Advance Disposal had not picked up any yard waste as of yet.  Mrs. Hall stated that our 

grapple truck picks up on Monday and Tuesday by work order; Advance Disposal is 

supposed to pick up limbs and debris on Fridays.  Mr. Jones state that he was also 

going to bring this up in the work session, because we have got to have a resolution 

now with what we are going to do moving forward.  Mr. Jones stated that you ride 

around town and there are piles of debris everywhere and most of it fits the criteria that 

Advance Disposal put forth in the contract that they have not picked up.   Mr. Jones 

stated that Mrs. Hall had it documented and we need to look at what is inside the 

contract.  Mr. Goolsby stated that he has also received calls and wanted the citizens that 

do watch this to know that we are addressing it.  Mrs. Hall stated that if the City 

continues cleaning up the debris that we currently have a charge and if we are going to 

forego that charge, we will need a motion from the council to say that we will forego 

the charge.  Mr. Melton stated that if it is something Advance Disposal should pick up 

and the city does the work for Advance Disposal, then the city should look to Advance 



Forsyth City Council meeting – June 16, 2015 Page 8 
 

 

Disposal for reimbursement for what they are contracted to do.  Mr. Jones stated that he 

had been working on this for about 10 days and what Mr. Melton said is exactly what 

he wants to do, and if that means forgoing the charge while we work out the details that 

is fine, but if they are in breach of contract by not picking up what they are supposed to 

be picking up based on the contract, then that is between us and them.  Mr. Jones stated 

that right now the citizens are paying for it; they are paying Advance Disposal for it, 

but we are the person that hired Advance Disposal.  Mr. Dodd offered a motion to 

forego the charge to city residents and bill Advance Disposal for any pickup that 

Advance Disposal should have picked up as stated in the contract.  Seconded by Mr. 

Jones, the motion carried unanimously, (voting in the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, 

Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and Lawrence).  Mr. Wilson asked about the card board boxes 

behind Grits, Mrs. Hall stated that it was not a code enforcement issue, but an Advance 

Disposal issue, where they have not picked up and that this is also on the list.  

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

- Don Daniel – Monroe County Reporter – came before the Council and stated that he 

wanted to compliment Council for finally taking some action on supporting the 

Convention and Visitors Bureau here in Forsyth.   Mr. Daniel stated that you are all 

aware that there has been some neglect in that area and you have an opportunity now to 

capitalize on what we have in Forsyth, and you have made the right move and I hope 

you will support the Convention and Visitors Bureau and make Forsyth what it should 

be.   

EXECUTIVE SESSION – PERSONNEL MATTERS 

 Mr. Goolsby offered a motion to move into Executive Session in reference to 

Personnel Matters.  Seconded by Mr. Lawrence, the motion carried unanimously, (voting in 

the affirmative were Dodd, Stroud, Goolsby, Jones, Wilson and Lawrence).  Adjourn at 

7:08 to Executive Session.  Mayor Howard called the meeting back into open session at 

7:44 PM. 

ADJOURN 

 There being no additional business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 7:44PM.  

Submitted by: 

 

Janice L. Hall 

City Manager 


